IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA B652B CASE NO. 81,584

0

0

MICHAEL T. RIVERA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

HARUN SHABAZZ Florida Bar No. 0967701 Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF TEE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence. Mr. Rivera was charged by indictment on August 6, 1986, with first degree murder (R. 2164). Mr. Rivera was adjudicated guilty on April 16, 1987, and on April 17, 1987, the jury recommended a death sentence (R. 2296, 2307). On May 1, 1987, the trial court imposed a death sentence (R. 2308-13). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Rivera's conviction and sentence but reversed the finding that the offense was cold, calculated and premeditated. <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1990).

On October 31, 1991, Mr. Rivera filed a Rule 3.850 motion and subsequently filed two amended Rule 3.850 motions. Along with his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Rivera filed a motion to disqualify the trial court judge (PC-R. 739-49). Mr. Rivera subsequently filed two additional motions to disqualify the judge (PC-R. 1024-40, 1604-18). The motions were all denied (PC-R. 783, 1143). The circuit court initially ordered an evidentiary hearing on Claim II F, J and K, and Claim XIX (PC-R. 1205-06). At the evidentiary hearing, when the State began attempting to present evidence on Claims XX and XXI, upon which no hearing had been granted, the court ordered a hearing on those claims as well and set a later date for that hearing (PC-R. 190-99). The court summarily denied the remainder of the claims without attaching any files and records demonstrating that the claims were conclusively refuted by the record (PC-R. 1205-06). The circuit

court subsequently denied all relief (PC-R. 1717-21). Mr. Rivera timely filed notice of appeal (PC-R. 1760), and this appeal followed. The facts will be discussed in the body of this brief as they relate to individual claims.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Rivera was denied a full and fair hearing on his 1. Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court erroneously denied Mr. Rivera's motions to disqualify the judge, who had previously stated he was "inalterably opposed" to any reduction in Mr. Rivera's death sentence and hoped that sentence would be carried out as soon as possible. Just as in Suarez v. Duqger, the judge's statements reasonably caused Mr. Rivera to believe he could not receive an impartial hearing by the judge. The lower court also erred in summarily denying numerous claims without attaching any files or records conclusively showing Mr. Rivera was entitled to no relief. The lower court ruled that several claims were procedurally barred although those claims were properly raised as ineffective assistance of counsel. For these and other reasons, this case should be remanded for reconsideration by an impartial judge.

2. The State's case at trial was based on a particular timing of the offense. However, an alibi witness showing Mr. Rivera could not have committed the offense was not presented at trial. This witness testified at the evidentiary hearing. Under either an ineffective assistance of counsel, <u>Brady v. Maryland</u> or

newly discovered evidence analysis, Mr. Rivera is entitled to relief.

3. The State delayed indicting Mr. Rivera for six months after he was arrested and identified by the State as the suspect. This preindictment delay prejudiced Mr. Rivera's ability to defend against the charges because important alibi witnesses establishing Mr. Rivera could not have committed the offense could not be located. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to raise the preindictment delay issue.

4. Mr. Rivera did not receive effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. counsel failed to investigate and thus failed to present evidence supporting numerous mitigating factors. The lower court ruled this claim was procedurally barred, even though the State urged the court to address the claim on the merits. The lower court did not attach any files and records showing this claim was conclusively rebutted. An evidentiary hearing and relief are warranted.

5. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate a voluntary intoxication defense.

6. Mr. Rivera's sentencers relied on his prior conviction of four charges in imposing death. Two of those convictions have now been vacated. Resentencing is appropriate.

7. This Court did not conduct an adequate harmless error analysis on direct appeal after striking an aggravating factor.

8. Mr. Rivera was deprived of his right to a fair and impartial jury.

9. The trial court's erroneous rulings cumulatively denied Mr. Rivera a fair trial.

10. Mr. Rivera was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt-innocence phase.

11. Mr. Rivera's jury was misinformed and misled as to the significance of its sentencing decision.

12. The trial court and this Court unconstitutionally ignored mitigating factors established by the evidence.

13. The jury was erroneously instructed that Mr. Rivera had to show that mitigating factors outweighed aggravating factors in order to establish the propriety of a life sentence.

14. The trial court unconstitutionally relied upon nonrecord facts in imposing death.

15. The trial court imposed an erroneous burden of proof regarding mitigating factors and thereby failed to consider mitigation.

16. The jury received unconstitutionally vague instructions regarding aggravating factors, and no adequate sentencing calculus has been performed in Mr. Rivera's case.

17. The State failed to disclose material exculpatory evidence.

18. The system for funding counsel and experts for indigent defendants in Broward County creates a conflict of interest.

19. Two of the four convictions relating to the Williams Rule evidence presented at Mr. Rivera's trial have been vacated.

20. Cumulative error deprived Mr. Rivera of due process.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

MR. **RIVERA** WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS, A FULL AND FAIR HEARING AND **AN** IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL ON BIB MOTION TO VACATE.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED THE MOTIONS TO DISQUALIFY THE JUDGE

On October 31, 1991, along with his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Rivera filed a Motion to Disgualify Judge maintaining that Judge Ferris had exhibited bias against Mr. Rivera and prejudgment of issues in statements to the press and to the Florida Parole Commission, that Judge Ferris had relied on facts from a previous case involving Mr. Rivera although those facts were not part of the record in the capital case, and that Judge Ferris was a material witness regarding several claims presented in Mr. Rivera's post-conviction proceedings (See PC-R. 739-49). This motion was subsequently denied (PC-R. 783). After additional facts came to light, Mr. Rivera filed a second and third Motion to Disqualify Judge, maintaining that Judge Ferris was prejudiced against him and was a material witness regarding numerous claims in his post-conviction proceedings (PC-R. 1024-36, 1604-18). Those motions were also denied (PC-R. 1143, 1202). Denial of the motions to disgualify was erroneous, and this case should be remanded for reconsideration by an impartial tribunal.

1. <u>Bias And **Prejudgment** Of Issues</u>

Judge Ferris has exhibited bias against Mr. Rivera and a predisposition to rule against him throughout the proceeding in this case. Five months <u>before</u> Mr. Rivera's trial, on November

21, 1986, the Court was quoted in the Ft. Lauderdale <u>Sun</u> <u>Sentinel:</u>

> I believe this man has committed crimes many times in the past, and I believe he has resisted many attempts at rehabilitation, Ferris said. I don't think society should permit him to visit this conduct on anyone else.

In a letter to the Florida Parole Commission concerning consideration of executive clemency, Judge Ferris stated:

I am inalterably opposed to any consideration for Executive Clemency and I believe the sentence of the court should be carried out as soon as possible.

(PC-R. 741, 1046).

As in <u>Suarez v. Dugger</u>, 527 So. 2d 190 (Fla. 1988), Judge Ferris's expression of his strong desire that Mr. Rivera be executed as soon as possible is indicative of such bias and interest that Mr. Rivera could not believe that he would obtain a full, fair and unbiased hearing on his motion to vacate from Judge Ferris. This letter evidences a prejudgment by Judge Ferris that the sentence of death was appropriate, a prejudgment which precluded his presiding over the Rule 3.850 proceedings.

In <u>Suarez</u>, this Court held that the circuit court judge should have disqualified himself based on the judge's statement to the press that the judge "does not believe this case merits postponements." 527 So. 2d at 192 and n.1. Here, Judge Ferris has stated he is "inalterably opposed" to any reduction in Mr. Rivera's sentence and believes the sentence "should be carried out as soon as possible." One who is "inalterably opposed" to a

reduction of a death sentence cannot fairly and impartially adjudicate claims such as those in Mr. Rivera's Rule 3.850 motion, which seek to vacate his conviction and death sentence. As in <u>Suarez</u>, "these statements are sufficient to warrant fear on [Mr. Rivera's] part that he would not receive a fair hearing by the assigned judge." 527 So. 2d at 192. As in <u>Suarez</u>, the court should reverse the denial of Rule 3.850 relief and remand this case for a new proceeding before an impartial judge. <u>Id</u>.

2. **Prejudgment of Issues/Judge** As Witness

Mr. Rivera's motions to disqualify also contended that Judge Ferris had prejudged certain issues and would be a material witness as to numerous claims raised in the Rule 3.850 motion.

In Claim VIII Mr. Rivera alleged that Judge Ferris based the sentence in the present case on nonrecord information gained while presiding over other proceedings against Mr. Rivera. Judge Ferris will be a necessary and material witness as to this claim.

Judge Ferris presided over the jury trial of this capital case and ultimately imposed death. However, prior to this trial, Judge Ferris had also presided over Mr. Rivera's trial in an unrelated case which resulted in Mr. Rivera's convictions of attempted first degree murder, kidnapping, aggravated child abuse and aggravated battery.' Over Mr. Rivera's objection, Judge Ferris admitted some testimony regarding the earlier case. However, Judge Ferris was aware of and actually considered

^{&#}x27;The convictions of aggravated child abuse and aggravated battery have since been reversed on appeal. <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 547 so. 2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

evidence presented during the previous trial which was not presented in the capital trial. In a letter written to Carolyn Tibbets in regard to the issue of clemency, Judge Ferris referred to the testimony of the previous trial as a reason he believed Mr. Rivera should die. At the time of trial Judge Ferris could not expunge from his mind his knowledge of other facts from the previous trial which had not been introduced in this case, nor can he do so now. In addition to being prejudiced by facts from a previous trial, Judge Ferris is now also a material witness in the postconviction proceedings.

Other claims also required Judge Ferris to be a witness. For example, in Claim II of the Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Rivera alleged that Judge Ferris improperly permitted juror Thornton to sit on the jury when Thornton was a known supporter of Sheriff Nick Navarro and when Judge Ferris had previously represented Thornton. Judge Ferris will be a necessary witness as to whether Judge Ferris knew juror Thornton and was aware that the juror was a Sheriff Navarro supporter.

At the time of trial, there was considerable debate regarding Sheriff Navarro's handling of the Jazvac investigation. Mr. Rivera contended that the investigation was prematurely closed although other similar murders continued to occur after Mr. Rivera was in custody. In addition, Sheriff Navarro and the State inexplicably delayed indicting Mr. Rivera until six months after Mr. Rivera's statements and arrest, even though Sheriff Navarro advised the media at the time of the arrest that he had

plenty of evidence for an indictment. Due to the delay, Mr. Rivera was unable to conduct a meaningful investigation particularly with regard to his alibi, These issues were raised in the Rule 3.850 motion. Judge Ferris's close personal relationship with Sheriff Navarro prevented an impartial judgment on Mr. Rivera's claims.

а

Judge Ferris had at the very least a business relationship with jury foreman Thornton. Judge Ferris also had a close relationship with Sheriff Navarro.² Judge Ferris refused to grant a mistrial or withdraw juror Thornton from the panel, once Mr. Thornton's close connections with the sheriff became known. Judge Ferris not only cannot be fair and unbiased in regard to this issue, but he is also a necessary, material witness.

In Claims II and IV, Mr. Rivera alleged that Judge Ferris improperly allowed the courtroom to be packed with school children the same approximate age of the victim, while John Walsh, of the Adam Walsh foundation, sat in their midst comforting the victim's mother, and that the prosecutor deliberately staged a courtroom atmosphere and made improper closing arguments calculated to produce a "lynch mob" mentality in the jury, Judge Ferris will be a material witness regarding these claims.

Further, during the trial, Judge Ferris attempted to create a record regarding competency of counsel by complimenting Mr.

²Sheriff Navarro sponsored a retirement party for Judge Ferris after the trial.

Rivera's trial counsel on the quality of his representation (R. 2141-42, 2162). Whether trial counsel rendered effective assistance to Mr. Rivera was one of the primary issues raised in the motion to vacate. Judge Ferris has already stated a clear opinion regarding the quality of trial counsel's performance at trial which deprived Mr. Rivera of a full, fair, and unbiased consideration of the issue of counsel's effective representation.

Mr. Rivera's motions to disqualify also maintained that budgeting procedures and allocation of funds for special public defenders and expert witnesses created a conflict of interest between indigent defendants, such as Michael Rivera, and the Broward County Circuit judges (<u>See</u> PC-R. 1113-42, 1604-18). Mr. Rivera maintained that the county fund from which Special Assistant Public Defenders and expert witnesses in capital cases are paid is the same fund from which Broward County Circuit Court judges receive funding for capital improvements, that many Broward Circuit judges, including Judge Ferris, engage in the practice of negotiating lesser fees with Special Assistant Public Defenders in order to increase the available funds for their own purposes, and that Special Assistant Public Defenders appointed to capital cases are also expected to "shop for the best deal" before the Court will approve an expert.

This situation gives rise to an irreconcilable conflict of interest in capital cases litigated in Broward County. Because Mr. Rivera was tried in Broward County, was represented by a Special Assistant Public Defender, and was allowed to consult

with court-appointed experts, this situation is clearly relevant to Mr. Rivera's case and was raised as Claim XXI of the Rule 3.850 motion. As Judge Ferris would of necessity be a witness regarding this conflict of interest issue, he should have disqualified himself from presiding over Mr. Rivera's pending postconviction action.

9

These incidents are certainly "sufficient to warrant fear on [Mr. Rivera]'s part that he would not receive a fair hearing by the assigned judge." <u>Suarez v. Dugger</u>, 527 So. 2d 190, 191, 192 (Fla. 1988) ; <u>Livingston v. State</u>, 441 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1983). A fair hearing before an impartial tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. <u>In re Murchison</u>, 349 U.S. 133 (1955). Absent a fair and impartial tribunal, there is no full and fair hearing. Even the appearance of partiality or prejudgment is sufficient to warrant disqualification, as is the fact that Judge Ferris is a material witness regarding several claims raised by Mr. Rivera.

This case should be remanded to the circuit court for new post-conviction proceedings before a new trial judge.

B. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANY MERITORIOUS CLAIMS

Although the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing limited to parts F, J and K of Claim II and Claims XIX, XX and XXI, the court summarily denied the remainder of Mr. Rivera's claims, The court erred. A Rule 3.850 litigant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon v. State,

498 so. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Crews</u>, 477 so. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 461 so. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984).

The lower court summarily denied Claims II (parts G, H and I), III, IV, VIII, and XVIII, ruling that these claims were procedurally barred (PC-R, 1205). However, these claims all alleged ineffective assistance of counsel, an allegation which is properly raised in a Rule 3.850 motion. <u>Blanco v. Wainwrisht</u>, 507 so. 2d 1377, 1384 (Fla. 1987). For example, Claim II alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate for the penalty phase, a claim consistently recognized as properly presented in a Rule 3.850 motion and as requiring an evidentiary hearing. <u>Heinev v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990).

Other claims, such as Claim XVIII, alleged that trial counsel failed to raised proper objections and thereby failed to preserve significant issues. Ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on a failure to object are properly raised in postconviction. <u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, 477 U.S. 365, 377 (1986). Since the only way a criminal defendant can assert his rights is through counsel, counsel has the duty, <u>inter alia</u>, to know the law, to make proper objections, to assure that jury instructions are correct, to examine witnesses adequately, to present evidence, and to file motions raising relevant issues. In <u>Kimmelman</u>, counsel's performance was found deficient for failing to file a suppression motion, thus defaulting the suppression issue. Counsel have been found ineffective for failing to object to jury instructions on aggravating factors, <u>Starr v. Lockhart</u>,

23 F.3d 1280, 1284-86 (8th Cir. 1994), for failing to know the law, Brewer v. Aiken, 935 F.2d 850 (7th Cir. 1991); Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), and for failing to raise proper objections to evidence or argument and argue issues effectively. Atkins v. Attorney General, 932 F.2d 1430 (11th Cir. 1991); Murphy v. Puckett, 893 F.2d 94 (5th Cir. 1990); Harrison v. Jones, 880 F.2d 1279 (11th Cir. 1989); Vela v. Estelle, 708 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. 1983); Turner v. Dusser, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992).

Moreover, a trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant appellant an evidentiary hearing, or alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted." Witherspoon v. State, 590 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). A trial court may not summarily deny without "attach[ing] to its order the portion or portions of the record conclusively showing that relief is not required." Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990). <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1261 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992). See also Bell v. State, 595 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) ; Brown v. State, 596 So. 2d 1026, 1028 (Fla. 1992). "Because the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing and without attaching any portion of the record to the order of denial, our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows on its face that [Mr. Rivera] is entitled to no relief." Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1069

13

9

9

9

9

(Fla. 1988). The files and records in this case do not conclusively rebut Mr. Rivera's allegations.

The trial court's denial in this case is contrary to law. The trial court attached nothing from the record or files in this case to its order to conclusively show that Mr. Rivera is not entitled to relief. The order denying relief ignores the express requirements of Rule 3.850 and this Court's case law. As in <u>Hoffman</u>, this Court has "no choice but to reverse the order under review and remand," 571 so. 2d at 450, and order a full and complete evidentiary hearing on Mr. Rivera's 3.850 claims.

ARGUMENT II³

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