IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 80 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ **Chief Deputy Clerk**

MICHAEL T. RIVERA,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 86, 528

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0656879 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

and closing argument. (ROA 1821-23, 1313-17). Rivera cannot establish that Malavenda's performance was deficient.

Rivera next argues that counsel was deficient in failing to request a curative instruction regarding hearsay testimony of Detective Asher. Asher testified that Dr. Wright told him that Jennifer Goetz was near death during Rivera's attack upon her. (ROA 1376). Rivera cannot establish any prejudice in light of the fact that Dr. Wright also testified to the same thing. (ROA 1467-69).

Rivera also objects to counsel's failure to object to a photograph of Jennifer Goetz used during Wright's testimony. Since Dr. Wright was not present when the photograph was taken he could not testify that it was an accurate depiction of the injuries. Rivera claims that the doctor's testimony should have been excluded on this basis. Rivera is in error. The photos were identified by the police as having been taken of Jennifer Goetz the day of her attack. (ROA 1375-77). Curiously enough, Rivera's own expert, Dr. Fatteh, relied upon the same photos during his direct testimony. (ROA 1682-83). Rivera cannot establish any prejudice. Had Malavenda successfully precluded the photos and Wright's testimony Rivera's conviction for the attempted murder of Jennifer Goetz would still have been properly admitted at trial.. <u>Rivera</u>, 541 so. 2d at 538-540.

Rivera alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a reference that a state witness, William Moyer, was willing to take a polygraph test. (ROA 1496). Rivera cannot establish that absent that remark the result of the proceedings would have been different. Unlike the facts in Crawford, 321 So, 2d 559 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), approved, 339 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 1976), relied upon by Rivera, any error must be considered harmless. There were five other people that Rivera confessed to regarding the murder.

Trial counsel's failure to object to Detective Amabile's hearsay testimony regarding what Jennifer Goetz told him regarding **Rivera's** attack upon her was harmless error. Jennifer Goetz testified to the very same facts. <u>Rivera</u>, 561 So. 2d at 539. Consequently any inadmissible hearsay regarding the facts of the collateral crime are cumulative and therefore harmless. <u>Baird7</u> 2 So. 2d 904, 906 (Fla. 1990); <u>Engle</u>, 576 So. 2d 696, 700 (Fla. 1990)

Counsel also failed to object to alleged hearsay statements from Detective Amabile regarding what another officer said to Rivera. A review of the record indicates that Officer Carney told Rivera that fingerprints can be lifted from the body. The statement was admitted not for the truth of the matter but to explain Rivera's reaction to the statement. Immediately upon hearing the statement Rivera became nervous and interested in what

was being said. (ROA 1526-27). Rivera then stated that he felt the police did have fingerprints. (ROA 1527). Consequently Amabile's statement was not hearsay. In any event, the exact same statement was elicited from the declarant Sergeant Carney. Consequently, any error in admitting Amabile's statement was harmless. (ROA 1264-66). Engle, 576 So. 2d at 700; Baird, 572 So. 2d at 906.

Rivera also claims that trial counsel failed to object on hearsay grounds to Detective Amabile's testimony regarding a conversation Rivera had with someone named Larry Nelson. Rivera told Nelson that he may have met Staci before. (ROA 1528). However even if admission of Amabile's statement was error it was harmless as Sergeant Carney testified that Rivera made that exact same statement to him. (ROA 1264). <u>Baird; Engle</u>.

Next, **Rivera** claims that counsel failed to object to Amabile's description of Peter **Rivera's** work records. (ROA 1531). However even if Amabile's statement was erroneously admitted, it was harmless error as the jury heard the same information from two other witnesses.

Initially River claimed that he had been with his brother the night of the murder because his brother was off from work on that day. However **Rivera's** alibi did not check out because employee records of Peter **Rivera** reveal that he was working the night of the

murder. Both Peter **Rivera** and Sergeant Carney testified to this at trial. (ROA 1266-67, 1739-1740, **1750, 1757).** Consequently to the extent Amabile's testimony was error, **Rivera** cannot establish prejudice. **Engle**.

Rivera claims that counsel was deficient for failing to object to Amabile's "gratuitous" statement that he admitted to other people that he killed Staci Jazvac. Rivera misrepresents the record, as the statement was not gratuitous. When asked by <u>defense</u> <u>counsel</u> on cross-examination whether Rivera admitted the killing to anyone else, Amabile responded affirmatively. (ROA 1552-53). When asked whether Rivera ever admitted it to law enforcement officers, Amabile responded negatively. (ROA 1553). On redirect, after Rivera's counsel opened the door, Amabile named the people to whom Rivera admitted the crime. Defense counsel's tactics was within the range of professional strategy. The jury knew that Rivera had admitted the crime to others, as they testified at trial. <u>Rivera</u>, 561 So. 2d at 537-538. Malavenda was pointing out to the jury that Rivera has never confessed to the police.

Rivera alleges that trial counsel failed to object to repeated hearsay statements by Amabile. Amabile relayed his conversation with Detective Georgevich wherein Georgevich told Amabvile about Rivera's admissisions to Starr Peck. A review of the record reveals that Amabile referenced his conversation with Detective

Georgevich's not for the truth of the matter contained in the statement, but for what Amabile did in response to that information, i.e., he then contacted Star Peck. (ROA 1509). Rather than object to the statements Malavenda asked Amabile questions on cross-examination in an attempt to demonstrate that Rivera's phone call to Peck was nothing more than a fantasy and not a confession. (ROA 1553-56). Rivera cannot demonstrate that Malavenda's strategy was unreasonable. Ferguson, 593 So. 2d at . Nor can Rivera establish prejudice as Star Peck had already testified about the content of Riviera's statements to her. Finally Rivera admitted to making the statements to Peck. Rivera, 561 So. 2d at 537.

Next Rivera claims that trial counsel failed to object to state witness Gail Mastando's testimony that Rivera looked like the singer John Oates. (ROA 1594). Mastando testified on direct examination that she received obscene phone calls while she was working the late shift at Denny's. (R ROA 1586-1588). The caller said his name was 'Tony" and told her that he looked like the singer John Oates. (ROA 1588). When the witness began to state that the defendant looked like John Oates, defense counsel objected. (ROA 1293-1294). The objection was sustained. (ROA 1294). On cross-examination, Ms. Mastando admitted that she has never seen Rivera, she does not know Rivera and he has never hurt

her. (ROA 1596). Rivera fails to establish that Malavenda's actions were in any deficient.

Rivera claims that counsel was not present during the testimony of Meham, but later says that he was not present during the testimony of Moyer. The record does not support this claim. Counsel was present and cross-examined Moyer. (R 1480-94, 1499). Counsel was obviously present for direct examination of Meham, his own witness. (R 1758-63).

Rivera next contends that defense counsel failed to effectively cross-examine Walter Moyer. However a review of the record indicates that Mr. Malavenda did impeach Moyer. The jury heard that Moyer was in jail on four counts of sexual, battery on a child. Three of the charges were dropped. (ROA 1489). Although he could have received a life sentence, he was sentenced to thirteen years. (ROA 1490). Rivera cannot not demonstrate how Malavenda's performance was deficient regarding the cross-examination of Moyer.

In conclusion, Rivera has failed to establish that trial counsel's actions were not within the wide range of sound trail strategy. Furthermore, Rivera could not establish that absent the alleged errors of Malavenda, the result of the proceedings would have been different.

ISSUE XI

RIVERA'S CHALLENGE TO THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTING REGARDING THE JURY'S ROLE IN SENTENCING IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Rivera claims that the penalty phase jury instructions impermissibly diminished the jury's role in Florida's sentencing scheme. The trial court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred for failing to raise it on direct appeal. (R 1203). <u>See Atking v. State.</u> 541 So. 2d 1165, 1166 (Fla. 1989); <u>Daushterv v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 287, 288 (Fla. 1988); Combs v. <u>State</u>, 525 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1988). In any event the jury instructions adequately advise the jury of its responsibity in Florida's sentencing scheme. <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1992).

ISSUE XII

RIVERA'S CHALLENGE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS IN MITIGATION ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In his postconviction motion **Rivera** attacked the trial court's findings regarding mitigating evidence. **Rivera** also argued that to the extent counsel failed to properly argue and present such mitigation his performance was deficient. The trial court summarily denied this claim as procedurally barred. (R 1203).

In sentencing Rivera to death, the trial court found the existence of one statutory mitigating factor,²¹ and discussed other nonstatutory mitigation. (ROA 2311-2312). On direct appeal Rivera challenged the trial court's rejection of two other statutory mitigating factors.²² The trial court's findings were upheld by this Court. <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536, 540-541 (Fla. 1990). Rivera is precluded from relitigating this issue. <u>See Roberts v.</u> <u>State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1257 (Fla. 1990); <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994). Rivera's attempt to overcome the procedural bar by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel was also properly rejected by the trial court. <u>See Harvey v. St-ate</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla 1995).

²¹ 921.141(6) (b).

²² 921.141(6)(e) & (f), Fla. Stat. (1987).

ISSUE XIII

RIVERA'S CLAIM THAT THE PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS IMPROPERLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN TO ΗIΜ TO PROVE THAT DEATH WAS NOT THE APPROPRIATE PENALTY WAS PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Rivera claimed that the standard jury instructions at the penalty phase improperly shifted the burden to him to prove that death was not the appropriate penalty. This claim was denied as procedurally barred since Rivera could have and should have raised it on direct appeal. <u>See Chandler v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994).

In an attempt to again challenge the trial court's findings regarding his sentence, Rivera claims that the trial court employed the wrong standard when assessing the evidence and that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object. Rivera is precluded from relitigating this issue. <u>See Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1257 (Fla. 1990); <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994). <u>See Harvev v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995).

In any event the penalty phase jury instructions do not impermissibly shift the burden of proof to the defendant. <u>See</u> Blystone v. Pennsvlvania, 110 s. ct. 1078 (1990); <u>Boyd v.</u> <u>California</u>, 110 S. Ct. 1190 (1990).

<u>ISSUE XIV</u>

RIVERA'S CLAIM THAT THE JUDGE RELIED ON FACTS NOT OF RECORD IN SENTENCING HIM TO DEATH WAS PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Rivera claimed that the trial judge relied on non record facts in sentencing him to death. In support of this contention, Rivera relied on comments made by Judge Ferris' at Rivera's sentencing hearing in the Geotz trial. See issue I. Rivera did not specify in his motion the nature of the impermissible evidence. The trial court's summary denial was proper given the fact that claim was legally insufficient and procedurally barred.

A motion is legally insufficient if it does not include identification of the prospective witness, the substance of the testimony and an explanation of how this omission was prejudicial. <u>Highsmith v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 825, 826 (Fla. 1993); Ensle v. <u>State</u>, 576 So. 2d 698, 700 (Fla. 1992) (ruling that motion is legally insufficient absent factual support for allegations). <u>See</u> also Kennedy v. State, 547 so. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989) ("A defendant may not simply file a motion for post-conviction relief containing conclusory allegations that his or her trial counsel was ineffective and then expect to receive an evidentiary hearing."); Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1258 (Fla. 1990) ("The second and third claims are devoid of adequate factual allegations and therefore are insufficient on their face. As we noted in Kennedy,

mere conclusory allegations that trial counsel was ineffective do not warrant an evidentiary hearing."). Furthermore it could have been raised on direct appeal. <u>See Kelly v. State,</u> 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990); <u>Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 1994).

ISSUE XV

RIVERA'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT IMPOSED AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL BURDEN UPON HIM TO PROVE THE EXISTENCE OF MITIGATING EVIDENCE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Rivera claimed that the trial imposed court an unconstitutional burden upon him to prove the existence of his mitigating evidence. was This claim properly denied as procedurally barred, since it could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Kelly v. State, 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990). To the extent this claim was raised on direct appeal via Rivera's challenge to the trial court's findings regarding his sentence, the claim is also barred as relitigation is precluded. See Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 2879 (1991). Regardless, the trial court properly instructed the jury regarding the standard of proof, and the sentencing order reflects the same. (ROA 2134-2136, 2311-2312).

ISSUE XVI

RIVERA'S CHALLENGE TO THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING THE PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Rivera challenges the instructions regarding the aggravating factors that were considered by the judge and jury. This claim was properly denied by the trial court as procedurally barred. (R 1203). <u>See Chandler v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1068 (Fla 1994)(finding procedurally barred challenge to jury instructions on the aggravating factors).

In any event, Rivera claim is without merit. <u>See Dougan v.</u> <u>State</u>, 595 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla 1992) (finding that Florida's death penalty statute, jury instructions and recommendation forms based on it, set out a clear and objective standard for channeling the jury's discretion); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d 575 (Fla 1993) (finding that Florida has adopted a narrowing construction of its heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993) (finding that Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional is without merit),

Furthermore **Rivera** conceded on direct appeal that there was sufficient evidence to establish two of the factors he is now challengingi.e., the crime was committed during the course of a

felony²³ and prior violent felony²⁴. <u>Rivera</u>, 561 So. 2d 536, 540 n. 10 (Fla. 1990). Given there was sufficient evidence to establish these factors any error in the instructions must be considered harmless. <u>Thompson</u>, 619 SO. 2d at 276.

This Court has already that there was sufficient evidence to establish the aggravating factor of "HAC". Rivera's attack on all of the instructions relating to his sentencing is without merit

²³ §921.141(5)(d) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985)

²⁴ §921.141(5) (b) <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985).

ISSUE XVII

RIVERA'S ALLEGATIONS THAT THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE IS WITHOUT MERIT. THE REMAINDER OF THE **CLIAM** IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

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